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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
No 10-cv-3509 (JFB) (ETB)

Christos Alexiadis,

Plaintiff
VERSUS
New York Col lege of Health Professions, etal,
Defendants.
MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
September 20, 2012
Joseph F. Bianco, District Judge: statu% Snd related |IInesses and hat he Wc’ltS
arrested, — suspended su e uen
Plaintiff. Christos AIeX|ad|s (‘plaintiff  dismissed r%m 0 egb q %
or “Alexiadis”) brings this action against the consequence of his dlsablht etendan
New York College” of Health Professmns conlt thet s arest and tismissel from
“College™), =~ Lisa_ E Pamintuan  the CoIIege were not based upon his alle ed
‘Pamintuan’), — Ermol  Virasawm dlsa ||tfv but rather wee based upon
Virgsawmi”), and  Steven  Haffner a bag of hand sanitizer from a

“Haffner”). Qcollec ively defendants) haIIwaY dis enser out3|de ofaclassroom on
alleging violations of "Title | of the July 31, 2009. Plaintiff counters that this

Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA’ urported reason was simply pretext in that
42 US.C. & 12112: Title 111 ofthe(ADA 45 Re \F/)vas bnngln? the handps%nrl)tlzer Into the

US.C. § 12187 and the Rehabilitation Act, classroom $o that students could use It
29 US.C. §794 PIaIn iff also alleges the hefore their lab session and, in his

following _state law  claims: breach 0f deposmon the professor_ confirmed et e

contract, false arrest false imprisopment, saw plaintift, on'the.day in question, sharing

|ntent|onal infliction of emotjonal distress, the hand sanitizer with other students.

neg ligent |ntI|c tion of emotional distress,

negggence violations of N.Y. Exec. Law Defendants move for summaryjfudgmen
violations of the New York State on the Prounds that: (1) plainfif's ADA

onstitution, and res?ondea superior, In T|tIeIca|m is unexhausted, (2) the adverse

particular, plaintiff alleges that he Is. a action_here was not faken “because of”

disabled individual due to his HIV-positive plaintiff’s alleged disability; (3) plaintiff’s

Rt
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H,IV-Fosmve status does not qualify him as
disabled under the. ADA; and (4) even If
laintiff met his initial byrden to present a
rima facle case of discrimination,
defendants. have met their burden to show
that _plaintiff’s dismissal was based upon
legitimate, non-discriminatory grounds.

For the reasons set forth below, the
Court holds that there is a g,enume dispute as
to materjal facts concer mg (1) whether
P|alntlff IS disabled within the meaning of
he ADA; (2) whether defendants’ actions
were taken “because of” plaintiff’s disabled
status; _and $3), whether . defendants’
explanation for their actions with respect to

laintiff was pretextual. Accordingly, the
ourt denies defendants’ motion for
summary judgment with, respect _to the
public accommodation claim under Title |11
of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. §12182; the claim
under the Rehabilitation Act, 29 US.C.
794 and the claim under N.Y. Exec. Law
296. The Court grants defendants’ motion
or summary judgment on plaintiff’s other
state law claims.

|. Background
A. Factual Background

The Court has taken the facts set, forth
below . from the parties” depositions,
affidavits, and exhibits, and from the parties
respective Rule 56.1 Statements of Facts.
Upon consideration of a motion for
summary judgment, the Court shall construe
the facts in the light most favorable to the
non-moving party. ee Capobianco v, City
ofNew York, 422 F.3d 47, 50 (2d Cir. 200).
Unless otherwise noted, where a party’s 56.1
Statement I cited, that fact is undisputed or

the opposing party has pointed to no
eviden%g n trge rFe)co%/d to conPradict it.1

1 Enrollment and Work-Study Experience

On December, 10, 2008, plaintiff
completed an application to enroll_in the
College’s  full-time _Massage  Therapy
ProIqram begwnlng In January 2009, (]D_e S,
56.1 " 1) With “his application, plaintiff
enclosed “a high school d|gloma from
Belford High School, (Pl.’s 961 *2.) A
valig _hlgh school diploma or equivalent
qualification is a prerequisite for admission
to the College, as well ‘as a requirement to
[eceive a massage thera% license from New
York State. (Defs” 561 ~2) Plaintiff
believed the diploma to be valid at the time
he submitted 1t to the College, but later
leamed, In 2010, that the dipfoma was not
valid. (P[.’s 5.1 2,) Plaintitf was accepted
as a student in fhe Massage Theragg
Program at the College in December 200
and” began the procéss of enrollment in
January™2009. (Pl.’s 56.1 *3, Defs.” 56.1

H3)

Plaintiff applied for employment in the
College’s Financial Aid Department under
the Federal Work-Study program, and was
hired by the College & an Administrative
Assistant in the Financial Aid Department
on. or about June 26, 2009, where he was

aid ten dollars an hour, (Pl.’s 56.1 "4,
efs.” 56.1 *4.) Plaintiff’s’ supervisor, an
employee of the College, Signed and
approved his time sheet ‘Showinig that he

1 In addition, although the parties’ Rule 56.1
Statements contain specific citations to the record to
support their statements, the Court has cited to the
Rule 56.1 Statements, rather than the underlgmg
citation to the record, when utilizing the 56.
Statements for purposes of this summary of facts.
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worked in excess of twenty hours per week. :
(’E’I 35611 ) The College was not aware
lainff "had  subniitted a . resume
contarnrng false employment experience, as
well as 4 false educational history. (]Defs
5%.1 | 53 Defendants contend that plaintiff
submiffed time . sheets that showed that
pIarntrff was claiming to Work when he was
actually attending Classes. (Id.) Plaintiff
asserts; however, that the time sheets were
signed_and approved by the CoIIerIre and
plaintiff had been excused from class or
Class_had been cancelled on the days in
question. (Pl.’s56.1 | 5.)

2. Plaintiff’s Disclosure of His HIV-Positive
Status

At the end of May and lasting into earIK

June 2009 Rlarntrff suffered from a Stap
infection, Which caused him o be absent
from several classes. EDefs 5.1 | 6% In
earIy June 2009, pIarn Iff disclosed that he
was' HIV-positive to- Stephanie Kraszewskr
gKraszewskrz the Director of Student
ervices, and to Haffner, then the Dean of
Students and a professor. (Id) Defendants
alleq e that pIarntrff also disclosed his HIV-
ositive status Dr. chhard Keohane
EKeohane 1p|arntrﬁs Anatomy _ and
dysro ogy Pro essor in early Juné 2009.
Plaintiff contends that he drsclosed his
HIV ﬁosrtrve status to Keohane two to three
months prior to June 2009. (Pl.’s 56.1 | 6.)3

2 Defendants contend that plaintiff was Irmrted to
working twenty hours per week. (Defs.” 56.1 | 4.

3 Haffner was  appointed to the posrtron of ean of
Students by Pamintuan, the President of the College.
fPI s Counter-Statement (“C.S. %561 | 2.) Haffner
ater became the Dean of the School of Massage
Th era V where he was in charge of setting the class
schedule and overseeing faculty. (ld. °|| 1, 3.
Keohane was promoted to Acting Dean of the Schoo
of Massage Therapy in January 2011. (ld. | 12)

Plaintiff alleges that, after he disclosed
his HIV status, £0, Haffner, Haffner stopped
greeting pIarntrff in the moring, which was
contrary to how he treated pIarntrff prior to
Iearnrn%of laintiff’s HIV status. (P1.’s C.S,

laintiff also disclosed'to Kristen
AIexander (“Alexander™), his supervisor in
the Offrce of Admissions, that he was HIV-
positive after he returned from a two-week
ansence for a Sta Phrnfectron (Id. | 88.) One
week after plaintiff disclosed to. Alexander
and Haffner that he was HIV-positive, Mar
Rodas (“Rodas”),  the Director of
Admissions, be?an slamming the door to her
office while plaintiff was working in the
office, began checking plaintiff’s work
study hours, and made plaintiff sign a piece
of paper saying he would not work'in excess
of ten hours: (Id. | 93) After plaintiff
disclosed his HIV status to Haffner, plaintiff
observed Haffner, Pamintuan (th ePresr dent
of the College), and Virasawmi (the Chief
Financial Officer of the College) clustered
together, on at least two or thrée"occasions,
making comments directed at plaintiff. (Id.
98.) “Pamintuan’s secretary also rea ed
plaintiff very coldly and closed the office
door. on plaintiff whien p arntrff went t0 grve
Pamintuan  paperwork.
Pamrntuan gave pIarn rff uaneasan Iooks
w en arntr ror()P aperwork.
Haffner’s emeano chan ed a er
elarntrff disclosed. hrs HIV status becomr frq
ery co an avoiding speaking to plaint

3 Hand Sanitizer Incident

On July 30 2009 during class, Keohane
asked students to practice conductrng
Palprtatrons on one another, and instructe
he students to clean their hands, preferably
with soap and water, but suggested hand
sanitizer as an alternative.. (DEfs.” 56.1 | /
PI.’s 561 | 7.) Hand sanitizer was available
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int he room, but the supply ran out while the
stu ents Wereceanrn eir hands, (Defs.’
|’s 56.1 %72 Plaintiff went
ookrn for hand sanitizer because he was
not sure if a Staph infection he had
contracted earlier was still contagious, (PI.’s
CS. 561 U19)  Plaintiff assérts that he
asked Keohane™if he could go get hand
sanitizer, and ~Keohane granted him
permission to do so. (Id UZ0) Keohane
states that he gave students permission to
leave the room’to ¢lean herr hands, but he
did not give permission to “break open a
hand sdnitizer _and bring it into  the
classroom Pl’s Ex.~ G, Keghane
Deposition (“Keohane Dep.”) at 67:15-
68:6.) Plaintiff then went into" the hallway
and opened a WaII -mounted hand sanitizer
drspenser and removed one of the cartridges
|nsr ¢ that_contained the hand sanitizin
durd Defs 5.1 U8 Pl.’s 56.1 u %
urvell ance camera recorded aint rff
openrng dispenser and removr tg
cartriage. (Defs 56.1 UB.) Plaintiff then
returnéd to' the, classroom, Where, pIarntrff
contends, he distributed the hand sanitizer
amongst  his classmates (Pl.’s 56.1 U8¥
Keoh ne at his deposition, confrrmed ha
plaintiffwas sharing the hand sanitizer with
%tzudentss)rn the cldss.  (Keohane Dep. at

~On July 31, 2009, Virasawmi was
informed College ~security and
maintenance Staff that a student had been
caught on videotape removing a cartridge of
handl sanitizer from a wall dispenser. (Defs.”

56.1 U9, Pl.’s 56.1 U9.) After viewing the
video from_ College . security, Virasawmi
caIIed the Old Brookville Police DeEartment
orepor t the alleged theft. (Defs.” 5.1 U9

Pl.’s ?1 U9() Officers from, the Old
Brookvr le Police Department arrrved at the
Colleg later that day and . spoke to
Virasawmi - and Pamintuan, viewed t

chtures from he video of plaintiff by t he
and sanit rzer rspenser4 and requested to
gues ion plamtiff. (Defs.’ 5.1 U10, PI.’s

1 U10)) Haffer escorted the plaintiff to
the, offrce where the police officers were
waiting, and the officers _interviewed
glarntr (Deﬁ .1 Ullg1 The aofficers
150 spoke with Virasawmi_and Pamintuan.
Defs.” 56, Ull PI s, 56.1 U%lg The
olice interview ner or
eohane, gDefs 561 U12 Pl’s 56.1 W11
128 Defendants contend that plaintiff did
not claim to he police, while he was bernd
ntervrewedb Polrce at the College, t ha
e had permrssron rom Keghane oopente
hand sanrtrzer cartridge, (Defs.” 56.1 U12)
According to the_téstimony of arrestin
officer ergeant Thomas Egan (* E%an?
nlaintiff told him at some point - either &t
he CoIIege or at police headquarters that a
teacher gave |m >Permrssr N to_take, the
sanitizer.” (PI. Deposition
g‘Egan Dep ”) at 28624% PIarn |ff Was
rrésted_and ‘char lge with larceny.
(Defs 56.1 U13,) Plaint |ffassertsthat prror
{0 his arrest, Pamrntuan |nsrsted that plaintiff
e arrested, whereas the police did not think
an arrest was fecessary over a five to ten
dollar tube of hand sanitizer, (PI s 560.1
U13.{ Furthermore, according to the
plaintiff, he, told Egan that thedefendants
Were chargrng hin because of his HIV
status. (Id.)

4. Plaintiff’s Suspension and Review
Process

On_July 31, 2009, while Plarntrff Was
heing interviewed by the. police officers,
Haffner presented” plaintift  with — a

4 Defendants state that the officers “viewed the

videotape” of plaintiff openrn? the hand sanitizer

drslpenser but plaintiff asserts hat the offrcers Saw

o 5two prcturesfromthevrdeo (Defs.” 56.1 U 10,
S
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suspension - letter,  dated JuIX 3l 2009
(Defs, 56,1 U14, P1.’s 56.1 U14) The letter
stated that plaintiff had "“displayed
unprofesslonal conduct in violation 0f”‘the
College’s Code of Conduct, that the matter
would” he referred to the' Committee on
Academic Policy to con3|der and that while
the process was ongoing, plalntlff Was
suspended from the Collége and was not
Bermltted on CoIIege property.5 (Defs.” 56.1

Generally, when a student was accused
of a serious Violation of the College’s Code
of Conduct, an |nc|dent report would  be
submitted by the accuser, an Investigation
wouId be conducted b Stu ent_Sefvices,

then a Su ent acy tr Commlttee

mee ing_ would
% ZOOSS the CoIIeges

I Au ust
Stu ent Facul ty Committee  reviewed
gvalntlffscase (Defs.” 56.1 U15 Plaintiff
as not permitted to attend the August 5,
2009 Sudent -Faculty Committee meetlng
though, P|alntlff cntends, the College
policy allowed a student to respond to he
discipline in_front of the Student- acuIty

Committee. (P1.’s C.S. 56.1 U28, 30.)

The Committee  consisted of students
and faculty, and Included Haffner and
Kraszewskl. gDefs %1 U15) Plaintiff
contends that Haffner voted' on the
discipli marB/ action, -~ which  defendants
d|s efs.” 56.1 315 Pl.’s 56.1 Ung

Commt ttee conside red |nc|dent report
subml tted to the College by Haffner and a
member of he CoIIege matntenance staff,
the videotape of the hand sanitizer incident,

5 The letter stated that P|alntlff was “not allowed to
attend class or be on the College campus without
written authorization" from Haffner. “If you see the
student in class or on ca t\FUS please notify the Office
of Student Services AND security immediately."
(P1.’s C.S. 56.1 U33))

and the July 31, 2009 suspension_letter
Erowde 0 R laintiff. (Defs.” 56.1 U16, PL.’s
ccording to plaintiff, no one at
the Student -Faculty” Commit ttee Meetlg
presented plaintiff’s explanation that he h
Rermlsslon from his professor to get the
and sanitizer and bring it back to class.
(Pl’s CS, 56.1 U37? The Committee
unanimously voted to dismiss pIa|n tiff from
the coIIege with the opportunlt%/ 0 reaBE)I
after one trimester. (Def
6.1 U16) B}/ letterdateq August 6, 2009
the plaintift was informed  of the
Committee’s decision to dismiss him from
the College and the basis for its actions. The
Iet ter also adV|sed plaintiff of the process for
applt(ln? for readmission after one trimester
and thal he was entitled to re%ues t that the
College’s Committee on Academic Policy
conduct a review of the Committee’s
determination. (Defs.’ 56.1 U17, PI.’s 56.1
U17.) Plantiff did not seek a review of the
Committee’s decision, or to reapply after

one trimester, thou?h pldintiff’s
Elsychotheraplst caIIed and Teft messages for
affner to resolve the issue regarding the

ale)ed theft. (Defs.” 56.1 U18, Pl.’s756.1

5. Incident of Alleged Theft Involving a
Different Student

On . Febryary 23, 2009, the Old
Brookville Policé came to campus after a
%tudent attempted to steal in- excess of
100,000 worth  of checks from the
Financial Aig Offlce (PI 's C.S. 56.1 U0,
Pamintuan chose not to press charges. (Id.)

B. Procedural Background

Plaintiff filed the complaint in this action
on July 30, 2010. Defendants moved for
summelry judgment on December 21 2011,
Plaintiff filed"a response in opposition to the
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motion for summary judgment on March 16,
2012. Defendants "feplied on March 30,
2012. The Court held oral argument on the
motion on AR”M 2012. The Court has fuIIy
considered the arguments and submissions
of the parties.

|l. Standard of Review

The standards for summary jud[qment are
well settled. Pursuant to Federal” Rule of
CrvrI Procedure 56(a), a court may only
grant a motion for: Summary. judgrent if
the movant shows that there IS no” genuine
drspute as 10 an%/ material fact and the
movan |s entrt ed 0 {Dudgment as a matter of
aw The moving
arty | bears the burden of showing_that he or
she”is entitled to summar %ud ment.
Huminski v. Corsones, 396F d 53, 9 f(2d
Cir. 2005). “A party asserting that a fact
cannot be or is denurnely disputed must
support the asseftion by: (A) citing to
particular parts of materials in"the record,
including *~ depositions, . documents,
electronically stored information, affidavits
or declarations, stipulations (including those
made for purPoses of the” motion™only),
admissions, interrogatory answers, or other
materials; or &B) showirg that the materials
cited do ot establish” the absence or
presence of a genuine drspue or that, an
adverse party Cannot produce admissiple
evidence to suRport the fact.” Fed. R. Civ.
56$c)(1) The court “Is not owergh the
evidence but s instead redurred 0 VIEw the
evrdence In_the light most favorable to the
party opposing summary judgment, to draw
all Teasonable’ inferences i favor of that
party, and to eschew credrbrlrt
assessments,” Amnesty Am. v, Town of
Hartford 31 F.3d 113 122 2d Crr 20043
guot ing Wegan v. Okst, 101 F.3d 845, 85
g 96))7 see Anderson V. Libert Cu
Lobby, Inc 477 US. 242, 248, 106 S.

Ju %ment IS unwarranted |
Suc

2505 9L L. Ed. 2d 202 %1986) (summary

he"evidence i

that a reasonable jury could return a
verdict for the nonmoving party”).

Once the moving party has met its
burden, he opposing Party ‘must do more
than srmph{ show hat there IS some

a

metap ysicdl_doubt as to the material
facts’. O]e nonmoving, party must
come forwar with specific facts showrng

that there Is a genuing issue for trial,
CaIdaroIav Calabrese, 298 F.3d 156, 160
‘ 2002 (duotrng Matsushita_Elec.
nus ov enith Radio Corp,, .
574 586-87, 106 S. Ct, 1348, 89'L. Ed. 20
538' (1986) (emphasis In original)). As the
Supreme Court stated in Anderson, “[i]f the
evidence s merely colorable, or IS not
srgnrfrcan ly Probatrve summar }ud ment
mag ranted.”  Anderson, . a
6 S. Ct. 2505 (citatjons omtted).
In eed “the mere existence of some alleged
factual dispute between the parties” alone
will not defeat a properly supported motion
for summar Jud%ment |d. at 247-48, 106
S. Ct 2505 emP asis In ongrnal) Thus, the
nonmoving party may not Test upon mere
conclusory alledations or_denials but must
set forth " “‘conCrete particulars” showrng
ha naI IS needed. R.G. Grou8 Inc
orn ardart Co, 751 F.2d 69, 77 (2d
C|r1984) |n% V. Research
Automation or 85 F2d 31, 33 (2d Cir.
1978)) Accordrngly it is insutficient for a
Pary opPosrng summary jud%men “‘merely
0 assert a conclusion without sup,olyrn%
supporting arFuments or facts.”™ BellSout
Telecomms,, Inc. v. WR. Grace & Co., 17
F.3d 603, 615 QZd Cir. 199%) uotin
thg)search ‘Automation Corp., 585 F.2d 4
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The Second Circuit has provided
additional gurdance regardrn? summary
judgment mations in discrimination cases:

We have sometimes noted that an
extra measure of caution is merited in
affirming summary judgment in a
discrimination action” because drrect
evidence of discriminatory intent is
rare and such intent often must be
Inferred from circumstantial evidence
found rn affidavits and depositions,
See, Gallo v, Prudential
Resid entral Servs., 22 F3d 1219,
1224 (2" Cir. 1994). Nonetheless,
“summary judﬁmen remains
available™ for™ the dismissal  of
discrimination claims in cases lacking
enuing rssues of materral fact
cLee V. hrys er 9% 3
130, 135 (2d 19 see also
Abdu-Brisson v. DeIta |r|_|nes Inc.
239 F.3d 456, 466 (2d Cir. 2001) (“It
IS now beyond cavil that summary
yudgmen may he. appropriate even in
he™ fact-intensive  ‘context  of
discrimination cases.”).

Schiano v. gualrty Pa roII Sys., 445 F.3d
597, 603 (2d Cir 200& quotrn Holtz V.
Etock)e)feller&CO 258 F.3d 62, 69 (2d Cir

|1I. Discussion
A Applicable Law

The ADA was enacted by Congress to
n?rr(r)va(tiee a cleoarr and comprehensrve National
discrimination aarnst rndrvrduals with
drsabrlrtresAA 47 USC.  §1 101(b(%
Title. 1 of the ADA prohibits emi)loy ent
discrimination. See 42°U.S.C. § 12112 Title
Il prohibits disability discrimination by

elimination ~ of

public entities in connection with access to
ublic services. See 42 US.C. § 1213
nder Title I1l. the provrsron at 1SsUe, {n]o
individual shall be discriminated against on
the basis of disability in the full and equal
enjoyment of the goods, services, facilifles,
privileges, advantages, or accommodations
of any”place of public accommodation b
any person who owns |eases (or Ieases to
operates - a_ place

accommodatron 42 US.C. §1218 The
statute provides a list of private entities that
are  defined as  places of public
accommodation, including, for example
hotels,  theafers,  grocery_stores,
transportation centers 2 USC. §12181(7)
Schools, including “elementary, secondary
undergraduate,  Or ~postgraduate private
school[s], or other place[s] of education” are
defined as places of public accommodation.
220.S.C. § 12181(7)()).

In order to establish a prima facie case
under Title 111 of the ADA, a plaintiff must
establish the foIIowrng (1) that_he Is
disabled within the meaning of the ADA: (2)
that defendants own, lease, or operate a
pIace of public accommodation; and (3) that
defendants ~ discriminated ?ams the
plaintiff by denyrng him a full and equal
opportum 0 entr)oy the services defendants
gro ee Roderts v. Royal Atl. CorP
42 F.3d 363, 368 (12 Cir. 2008): Camarillo
yggsrrols Corp., 518 F.3d 153,156 (2d Cir.

6 Plaintiff concedes that he failed to exhaust his
administrative remedies before filing this action.
Accordingly, his  claims for = employment
discrimination pursuant to Title | of the ADA, 42
US.C. §12112 and the Rehabilitation Act, 29
US.C. §794, are dismissed, Instead, plaintiff brings
his claim of discrimination in public accommodation
under Title 111, which does not require administrative
exhaustion. See McInerney v. Rensselaer Polytechnic
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B. Whether Plaintiffis Disabled

A threshold issue is whether plaintiff
suffrcrentl alleges that he was disabled
within th meanrnP f the ADA. For the
reasons set forth befow, this Court concludes
that plaintiff has raised a genuine dispute as
to material facts concernrng whether he is
disabled under the ADA

The ADA defines a disability as “(A %

hysical mental  impairment ~ that
su stantial I}r limits one or more major life
activities of such individual; (B) a record of
such an rmparrment or_(C} being regarded
as having suc anr arrment (8g escrrbd
In_paragraph ﬁ 02(1).
With respec 0 an rndrvrdua who IS
“regarded_ as avrn% an rmparrment under
42°USC, %1 10 % the |nd|vrduaI
mus establrs “that he o she has been
su Jecte t0 an ac |on prohibited under thig

t' because of an actual or Rercerved
phusrcal or mental impairment whether or
not the impairment limits or s perceived to

Inst., 505 F.3d 135 138 (2d Cir. 2007). It is well-
settled that the the three-part burden-shifting analysis
set forth by the Supreme Court in_McDonnell
Douglas Corp. V. Green, 411 US. 792, 802-05
(1973) " (“McDonnell " Douglas™)  applies _to
employment discrimination cases brou%ht under Title
| of the ADA. In the motion papers, in this case, both
sides utilize_the McDonnell Douglas framework to
analyze the Title 11l discrimination claim. (See Defs.
Mot. for SummarY Judgment (“Defs.” Mot.”) at 14-

15, Dec. 21, 2011, ECF No. 30: PI. sO to the
Mot. for Summar Ey Jud ment ( “pl. 's Op ):)at 20-21
Mar. 16, 2012, ECF No. 35 AIthou e Second

Circuit has never decide whether McDonneII
Douglas should also be utilized for Title 111 claims,
this ‘Court concludes that, given the nature of the
claims in this case (namely, termination from a work-
study position, and suspension and dismissal from the
College because of a drsabrlrty1< and given that the
parties both apply the framework, it is appropriate to
use the framework here. In any event, the Court’s
decision would be the same even without utilization
of the McDonnell Douglas framework

limit @ major life activity.” 42 U.S.C
§12102(32 ) However paragraph (1)(C)
“shal| no agﬁdy to rmParrments that_ are
transitory mino transitory
rmparrment IS an impairment with an actual
or eerct ed duratron of 6 months or less.”
42U.5.C. §12102(3)(B).

Conaress enacted the ADA Amendments
Act of 2008 ADAAA) effec tive January
1 2009 which expanded the class of
individuals entitled t 0 protection under the
DA. Pub. L No. 110-325, 122 Stat, 3553
(2008). As the Ninth Circutt has explained:

In the ADAAA Congress
emphasizes. that when it enacted the
ADA In 1990 it rn tended that the
Act ‘provide a  clear and
comprehensive natronal mandate for
the . elimination of _ discrimination
against individuals with disabilities’
and provide broad coverage.” The
ADAAA rejects the Supreme Court’s
Interpretation of the term “drsabrhty”
In Sutton v. United Air Lines, Inc.
527 US, 471, 119°S. Ct 2139, 144
L. Ed. 2d 450 (1999), and TO)‘

Motor Manufact urrng, Kentucky

v, Williams, 534 U.S 75 CL
681, 151 L. Ed. 2d 615 (2002) and
thereby  expands  the ~ class of
individuals ‘who are entitlied to
protection under the ADA.

Rohr v. Salt River Progect Agric.
Improvement & Power Dist, 555 F.3d 850,
853 (9th Cir. 2009) (citations omitted).

The ADAAA clarified the definition of
“major life activities” in 42 US.C,
12102(1)(A). Specrfrcally, as relevant to
trs case post-ADAAA" “a major Irfe
activity also” includes the operation of a
major”bodily function, including but not
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limited to, functions of the immune system.”
£ USC. §12102()B).  Furthermore,
“[a]n Impairment that 1S episodic or in
remission 1S, 4 dIS&bI|I'[P{ if 1t would
substantlallyi1 I2|m|targa or [ife_activity when

active.” § 12102(4)(D).

Aaditionally, one of Congress’s purposes in
enacting the ADAAA wads “to Convey that
the question of whether an individual’s
impairment s a disability under the ADA
snould not demand extenSive analysis.” 122
Stat. 3554,

Viewing the. evidence in. the light most
favorable to plaintiff, mcludgng drawing all
reasonable inferences in plaintiff's favor, a
rational ~ factfinder could  conceivably
conclude that plaintiff’s H_IV-P,osmve statlis
substantially limits the major life activity of
the function of his immune systém.

7 Prior to the gassa e of the ADAAA, in Bragdon v.
Abbott, 524 U.S. 624, 641 (1998?, the Supreme™Court
held that the respondent’s HIV infection was a
disability under 42 U.S.C, § 12102 ,12(A) because it
“substantially limits [the] major life activity” of
_reProduct!on. The Court did not address whether HIV
Infection Is a per se disability under the ADA. 1d. at
642. In Teachoutv. N.Y. City Dept ofEduc., 04 Civ.
945 (GEL), 2006 U.S, Dist. LEXIS 7405 %é,.D.N.Y.
Feb. 27, '2006), plaintiff claimed that his HIV-
positive status substantially limited the major life
activity of reproduction. 1d."at *23. Because HIV has
not been held to be a disability per se, the court
undertook a “case-hy-case inquiry as to whether a
plaintiff's HIV infection ‘substantially affects
plaintiff's ability to reproduce.” ld. at *23-24
(emphasis in_original). The court concluded that
Fla[ntlff’s ab”ﬁl to “reproduce was substantially
imited by his HIV-positive status, since the record
contained no evidence that plaintiff had any other
condition limiting his ability to reproduce, and
Plamtlff’s artner had submitted an affidavit statln%
hat they “ e%an to talk about having a child.” Id. a
*21. That statement and the lack of evidence pointing
to any alternative inability to reproduce was
sufficient to “create an issué of fact regarding the
[effect of plaintiff’s HIV infection on the major life
activity of reproduction.” 1. Slmllarlzy, in Lederer v.
BP Prods. N. Am., 04 Civ. 9664, 2006 U.S. Dist.

Plaintiff was diagnosed as. HIV-positive
several years beforé enrolling in the olletI;e.
Pl’s Ex. A Plaintiff’s Déposition (“PT.’s
ep.”), 118:16-18.) The record n this case
contains . evidence™ that plaintiff suffered
from various ailments durl_nq_hls time_at the
College. Far e,xample Blaln Iff experienced
a Staph infection that began at the end of
May and lasted until early"June 2009, which
caused him to qo to the emergency room andg
to miss several classes, gDefs.’ 5.1 "6,
Plaintiff also testified that he broke his ribs
at one point while he was a student at the
College, and that he told Keohane that it will
“take a little longer for me to heal because |
do have HIV.”"(Pl.'s Dep. at 137:23-25.)8

LEXIS 87368, at *15 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 1 2006), the
court found that the HIV-positive plaintiff had raised
a %enum_e issue of material fact as to whether HIV
substantially limited his ability to reproduce to
preclude summary judgment on the issue of whether
Plamnff was disabled for purposes of the ADA. In
he instant action, however ﬁ!alntllff has not alleged
that his HIV status affected his ability to reproduce,
and the Court’s conclusion concerning whether
plaintiff is disabled is premised on “plaintiff's
assertions concerning _his Immune system, not on
whether Flalntlﬁ’s ability to reproduce was impaired.
8 Plaintff may also" have experienced Staph
infections in April 2009 and Octaber 2009. (PI.’s Ex.
11, Budney Deposition (“Budney Dep.”), at ECF Page
No. 112-13.) Furthermore, plaintiff’s tpsychotheraplst
was questioned concerning plaintiff’s” health as a
consequence of his HIV-positive status. “I am not an
expert on stress affected to HIV illness, but in my
opinion and my experience with [plaintiff], when e
IS golnﬁ through a lot of stress it impacts him
ph?/sma y. He gets diarrhea or he gets sick or . . . he
will have headaches, he won't be able to sleep.” (Id.)
She noted, however, that she did not speak to any
medical doctors about “what impact, if any, the stress
was having on his HIV status” (Id. af 113) She
opined that the chronic stress may have played a role
in_plaintiff's hospitalization fi)r a severe Staph
infection on October 6, 2009. ([d.) She also stated,
“when he is under a lot of stress and strain or when
his interpersonal life is not gom% well, it would lower
his immune § steT dor he might Tend to get more sick,
physically sick.” (1)
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Finally, plaintiff testified that he told
Kraszewski about his HIV status after he
had missed class because he wasn't “feeling
well,” and had learned that his T-cell “levels
had dropped” and he was “pecoming {ll with
the HIV" infection,” which meantthat he
would need to start a treatment regimen.
(Pl.’s Dep. at 142:9-18.)

This evidence concerning Plaintiff’s
hospitalizations dug to Staph  infections,
plaintiff’s  difficulty recoverln(I; from
Injuries, and plaintiff’s T-cell Tevels is
sufficient to create a disputed issue of fact as
to whether P|alntlff IS disapled within the
meaning of the ADA. See Horgan V.
Simmons, No. 09 C 6796, 2010 U.S. Dist,
LEXIS 36915, at *9 (N.D, ll. Apr. 12

2010).  (“Drawing _ all ~Inferences in
PIal_ntlffL s favor, It s certainl /_Qlausmle -
Bartlcula [y, under the amended ADA - that

faintift’s HIV-positive status substantially
limits a major life activity: the function of
his Immune system.”).” f. Baptista V.
Hartford Bd, of Educ., 427 F, App’x 39, 42
(2d Clr._ZOllg (“But while [appellant]
conclusorily ~alleges. that ~ his'~ firing
constityted discriminatiqn on the basis of his
alcoholism or HIV-positive status, in none
of his comPIam_ts did he describe how either
impairment ~ limited ~ any ~ major _ life
activity.”).9 In other words, a rational

9 The Court notes that this conclusion - namely, that
there is sufficient evidence in the record from which
a rational factfinder could conclude that the function
of plaintiff’s immune system may have been
substantially limited by his HIV status™ is consistent
with  the” Equal = Employment OPportunlty
Commission regulations to implement the equal
employment provisions of the ADA, which state, “it
should easily be concluded that the following types
of impairments will, at a minimum, substantially
limit the major life activities indicated: ... Human
Immunodeficiency  Virus  (HIV) infection
%u?gg%nyally limits immune function.” 29 CFR.

10

factfinder, construmP the evidence in the
light most favorable to plaintiff, could
conclude that plaintiff’s HIV-positive status
constituted ~ a . disability .~ because . it
substantlall¥_ limited the major life activity
of the function of his Immune system. See
220.S.C. 88 12102(1)(A), 12102(2)(B).D

C. Whether Arrest and Dismissal Were
“Because of” Disahility

. Defendants argue that Pamintuan and
Virasawmi had no”knowledge of plaintiff’s
HIV-positive status at the time of plaintiff’s
dismissal, and that there is no evidence from
which it could be reasonably inferred that
the defendants took the adverse actions

because of plaintiff’s HIV-positive status.

Defs.” Mot. at 15.) This Court concludes

owever, that a rational factfinder could find
that the individuals responsible for the
adverse actions against plaintiff were aware
of his HIV-positive status.

Accordlng to plaintiff's evidence, in
early June 2009, plaintiff disclosed that he
was™ HIV-positive to  Kraszewski,1L the
Director of Student Services, and to Haffner,
then the Dean of Students and a professor.
I(_lDefs. 56,1 " 6.) Plaintiff also disclosed his

IV-positive status to Keohane, either n

10 Additionally, there is a_disputed issue of material
fact as to whether plaintiff was “regarded as”
disabled under 42 USC. 8§ 12102?1)(C). As
discussed infra, construing all facts in the plaintiffs
favor, plaintiff's supervisors treated him differently
after learning that he had a Staph infection and after
he advised them of his HIV status. A rational
factfinder could conclude that their actions
demonstrate that they believed plaintiff was
significantly impaired, such that he was regarded by
%%rR as disabled (as that term is defined under the

11 Kraszewski does not recall Plaintiff disclosing his
HIV-positive status to her. (Defs.’ Ex. N, Kraszewski
Deposition (“Kraszewski Dep.”, 57:24-58:17)
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June 2009, (Defs,’ 56.1 * 6.), or two to three
months prior to June 2009 (P1.’s 56.1 A 6.2.
Additionally, B|alnt_lff _disclosed. 1o
Alexander, his supervisor in the Office of
Admissions, that he was HIV-positive after
he returned from a two-week absence for the
Staph infection. (P1.’s C.S. 56.1 " 88.)

One week after plaintiff disclosed to
Alexander and Haffner that he was HIV-
Bosmve Rodas, the Director of Admissions,
egan. slamming the door to her office while
plaintiff was working In the office, began
checka Plaintiff’s work-study hours, and
made plaintiff sign a piece of paper saying
he would. not work in excess Of ten hours,
gld. 7 03,) According to plaintiff, plaintiff
ad previously heen”permitted to work as
man% hours as he wanted to. (PI.’s Dep.
12277-15, 151:21-24))

Plaintiff also asserts, under oath, the
foIIowm?: (1) after plaintiff disclosed his
HIV status_to" Haffner, on at least two or
three occasions, £|alntl_ff observed Haffner
Pamintuan, and  Virasawmi _ clustered
together making comments directed at
B|alntlff (Pl’'s™ CS. %1 "98) Zf)
amintuan’s secretary also treated plaintiff
very colaly and closed. the office door on
B|alntlff when tplalntn‘f went to  give
amintuan - paperwork_ (Id.  * 101); @
Pamintuan tgave plaintiff unpleasant logks
when plainfiff dropped off paperwork (Id.
A 102); and (42 Haffner’s demeanor changed
after “plaintiff disclosed his HIV  staius,
becomln_%ver(}/ cold and avoiding speaking
to plaintiff. (Id. * 103.)2

12 Pamintuan states in her declaration that the first
time she became aware of the claim of discrimination
based on HIV status by plaintiff was when a local
newscaster attempted t0 contact her for a comment
E%g%rﬂl?g)plamtlffs claims. (Defs.” 56.1 * 19, Pl.’s

~ This evidence Is sufficient to create a
dlsr[{)]uted issue of material fact as to whether
Pamintuan and Virasawmi were aware of
plaintiff’s HIV-positive status and engaged
In the adverse actions against him becalse
ofthat status.

D.  Whether Plaintiff Has Shown
Defendants’ Explanation to be Pretextual

Plaintiff arques that he has met his
burden to show that defendants’ proffereg
reason. for having him arrested, suspended,
and dismissed Was pretextual, The Court
conclydes that there are genuine issues, of
material fact In dispyte concerning whether
defendants’ explanation was a pretext for
disability discrimination.

Defendants arque that the reason for
plaintiff’s arrest and suspension Is that he
Wwas observed on videotape stealing hand
sanitizer. According to defendants,” when
plaintiff was _ given the. opportunity to
explain his actions, he admitted to takirig the
cart,rld,(T;e. Moreover, defendants contend that
R|alntl f never told the defendants that he
ad permission from Keohane to take the
hand sanitizer, and in fact, only offered that
explanation when he was taker to the police
station. Indeed, Keohane denies giving the
plainfiff permission to break ‘Open’ the
sanitizer cartridge. Addltlonalla/, plaintiff
never appealed “the College Committee’s
decision, and never informed the College of
his heljef that he had been treated In a
discriminatory manner.

n-an effort to show pretext, plaintiff
Po_mts, In part, to the defendants’ alleged
ailure to give him a sufficient opportunity
to respond'to the allegations against him, &
well s defendants’ failure 0 thoroughly
Investigate the Incident.  For . examPIe,
Keohare, at his deposition, confirmed that
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plaintiff was sharing the hand sanitizer with
students in the class. (Keohane Dep. 62.7-
However, there Is no evidence that
anyone _ constllted with Keohane before
suSpending plaintiff. On those issues, the
Court  emphasizes that a  person’s
disagreement with the thoroughness of an
investigation s not, In and of itself,
sufficient to demonstrate _discrimingtory
Intent. See Rorie v. United Parcel Serv:
Inc, 151 F.3d 757, 761 (8th Cir. 1998)
(stating that “the relevant inquiry was
Whether [Plarntrfﬂ created a genuine issue of
mat erraI act as to whether her discharge
was _gender-based and ngt whether her
termiriation was reasonable and noting that
‘[1]t 1s not the task of this court to determine
whether [the mvestrgators |nvest ation
Was sufhcrently horou o arr a 3oe
v, UticaMut. Ins, Co,,

250 (N.DN.Y. 201(’):) (é:rtrng Rodrr&uez \

Cl% of N.Y, 644
“[TAhe fact an

N.Y. 2008)

em onee drsagrees with the resuIts of an
employers decision regarding termination,
o even has evrdence fiat the”decision was
objectively incorrect or was based on fauIty
investigation, ~does  not  automat rcay
demonstrate, by itself, that the empIo er
Proﬁered [easons are @ Pretex
ermination.”)), However, plaintiff PO'”
other cat qones of actions, that, when
viewed collectively in the light most
favorable to plaintiff, rarse a genuine
disputed rssue of fact as to Whether
defendants” actions were pretextual

As discussed ahove, one week after
Iarntrff drsclosed hrs HIV-positive status to
affner Alexander, Elarntrffs

supervrsor Rodas allegedl began lamming
the door o her offrce w |e §rarntrff Was
workr % the office. (

Plaintiff also qbserved Haffner Pamrntuan
and Vrrasawmr allegedly clustered together

12

making comments directed at plaintiff. (ld.
N08.) ~ Pamintuan’s  secretary aIIe%edIy
treated plaintiff very coldly and closed the
offrce door on plaintiff when plaintiff went
to give Pamintuan paperwork. (ld. ™ 101,
Pamintuan ~ allegedly gave Iarntrf
unpleasant Iooks when parntr pﬁle off
pa erwork (ld. Haffner’s demeanor
also  allegedly chan ed afer _plaintiff
disclosed his “HIV status, becomin verg
cold and avoiding speaking to plaint

to plaintiff,

If 103.)
Additionally, accordrn?
Rodas began checking, plaintiff’s work-study
hours, and made plaintiff sign a piece of
Paper saying he would nof work in.excess of
en hours. (Id. »93.) Plaintiff testified that,
previously, “plaintiff had been Permrtted t0
work as many hours as he wanted ﬁPI
Dep.  122:7-15, 151:21-24.)  Plaintiff
acknowledges ~ that the ~ Financial Ard
Director, Cuis Gayman, told plaintiff two
weeks after plaintiff started working, t h
there was a limit on hours, but
HGauman] said don't warry about It.” gld
2-0.) AIthough plaintiff had signed a
Federal "Work-Study Contract limiting his
hours to 20 hours per week, he said the ruIe
was not enforced.” (Id. 152:13-21 153:11-
14.) ‘Indeed, in a nine-day period from June
30°to July 9, 2009, plaintiff worked 53
hours whrch Plarntrff es |f|ed was rircal of
the number ot hours he worked. 50:16-
157:6.) After plaintiff reveale hrs HIV-
Posrtrve status, the Office of Admissions
mited s hours to ten per week. (PL.’s C.S.
0} At oral argument, the Court
asked defendants for' an  explanation
concernrn% the sharp reduction in plaintiff’s
hours, and defendants responded’ that the
College was merely enforcing.the 20-hour
maximum mandated for partiCipants in the
Federal Work-Study program Defendants
did not, however, providg any explanation
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contained in the record for why that limit
was not enforced prior to” plaintiff’s
disclosure of his HIV-positive status.

Moreover, plaintiff has proffered
evidence that a student who was not HIV-
Posrtrve and who attempted to steal items
rom the College was treated differently than
Plarntrtf Speci |caII on February 23,2009,
he Old Brookville Po lice came_to campus
after a student attempted to steal in excess of
$100,000 worth of checks from the
Financial Aid Office. (Id. *60.) Unlike in
plaintiff’s case, Pamintuan chose not to
press charges. (Id) Defendants arque that
plaintiff was not similarly situated to the

other student because “it involved a student
Who lost. his temper in the Financial Aid
Offrce picked up a stack of checks and had
0 be physicall [}/e restrarned by a College

employ ee grn Support of
Mot “for Summar Judgment_ (“Defs.’
Reply”) at 10, Mar. 30, 2012, ECF No. 3.

Defendants further contend” that, prioy tg
plaintitf’s alleged theft there was “a long
string of thefts’ that had been plagurng the
campus for an extended period.”. “(Id,)
However, the Court concludes that, In this
case, the fact -specific. question of wheh er
these students were srmrlarly srtuae and
whether the drfferrng treat men su(j)ports a
reasonaple . inference 13 |I|ty
drscrrmmatron cannot be decided
summarg/ Igamen and souId be left tQ he
W Sée gederal X Graham V. Long sIand
230" F.3d 34, 39 (2d Cir.” 2000)
(“Whether two employees are similarly
sr uated ordinari g/ presents a gues lon offact
6ury ccord Lizardo v, Dennys,
Inc 27 F30'94, 101 (2d Cir. 2001) (samie).

Thus, plaintiff asserts, inter alia, that:
1) Callege employees” atfitudes towards the
plaintiff “changed significantly after he
disclosed his™ HIV-positive “status; (2)

o~

13

Plamtrffs supervrsors began enforcing a
Imit on parntrtfs ours 4 er he disclosed
his HIV-positive status, whereas he had
Rrevrously been ﬁermrtted to work unIrmr ed
ours; and (32 eCoIIet[re did not arrest a
non-HIV- Rosr lve studen
serious  theft on campus. Drawrn? all
reasonable inferences in the plaintiff’s favor,
these assertions, collectively, are sufficient
to create an Issue of drsputed fact as to
whether defendants’ actions were the result
of plaintiff’s disability or perceived
disability. Accordmdly the Court denres
defendants™ motjon_Yor summary judgment
on the claim under Title 111 of the ADA, 42
US.C. §12182 and the cIarm under the
Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. §7194.8

Finally, the Court denies defendants’
motion for summary Judgmen t with respect
to certain categories of damages - namely,
front pay, reinstatement, a degree from the
College, or lost wages. ~Deféndants argue
that plaintiff cannof’ obtain these forms™ of
reIre because of “after acgurred evidence”
which defendants contend demonstrates,

who_attempted a

BB Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act provides that
“I %0 otherwise qualified individual with a disability
in the United States .. . shall, solely by reason of her
or his disability, be excluded from the partrcrpatron
in, be denied ‘the benefits of, or be subjected to
discrimination  under an){ pro%ram o activit
receiving Federal financial assistance.” 29 U.S.
§794(a). Apart from some subtle differences
between the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act that are
not dispositive here, “the reach and requirements of
hoth statutes are precisely the same.” Weixel v. B, of
Educ. ofN.Y., 267 F.3d 138, 146 n.5 (2d Cir. 20023
see Henrietta D. v. Bloomberg, 331 F.3d 261, 291
(2d Cir. 2003). Accordingly, the Court denies
summary judgment on the claim of discrimination in
Publrc accommodation under the Rehabilitation Act
or the same reasons that the Court denies summary
judgment on the ADA claim. Similarly, the Court
also denies summary judgment on the’ N.Y. Exec.
Law § 296 claim for'the same reasons that the Court
denies summary judgment on the ADA claim.
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inter alia, that plaintiff made false
statements  to the College about his
educatrona backd ound and ‘submitted false
illi mg for student work. However, plaintiff
drspu es much of this evidence, inclucin
denying that he made statements abou
ttendrnp Mercy College and nAyrnZg
he falsely billed hours. ?PI $ 56.1
In any évent, it is unclear from the record
exactly how each of these pieces of
evideice, even If proven, would have
impacted plaintiff’s eligibility for admission
or contrnurng enrolment at’ the College.B
The Court conclydes, given the factual
disputes surrounding the ~after acqurred
evidence and he dr utes about its potential
Impact on laintift’s attendance at the
College, tha hese damages rssues also
cannot be reso ve on summar h ment,
e, e.0. Tuckahoe Unior Free
Sch. Dist, No 03 Civ, 7951 gPGG) 2009
US. Dist, LEXIS 91106, at * 9(SDNY
Sept. 30 2009){ (“Summary OJudgment on this
isste  [of after acquired | evidence] = s
mapproprrate where the plaintiff rarse[rs] a
material issue of fact as to whether the after-
acquired evidence would actually be a basis
for'termination.” (quot|n8 Greene v. Coach,
Inc., 218 F. Supp 2d 404, 413 EESDNY
2002))% see aso Fores V. Bu%/ uy Bahy,
18 F 3 (SDNY.
000) (“There remarn ma terial |ssues of
relevant fact as to whether [the employer]
would have fired [the plainti soIeIY ori the

basis of her falsified = employment

14 Plaintiff also asserts, “Tellingly, Defendants did
not make any accusations regarding aIIe?ed ISSues
with Plaintiff’s Work-Study time sheets for over a
¥ear after his arrest until at least August 2, 2010, after
he criminal case had been dismissed in favor of
Elarntrﬁ] (P1.’s Op at5n1t)

For examﬁle th respect to the issue with
plaintiff’s high school diploma, it is unclear whether
it could have been corrected while plaintiff continued
to attend classes at the College.

14

pplrcatron Defendant’s motion to strike
plaintiff’s claim for front pay and
reinstatement is therefore denied.”).

E. State Law Claims
1 False Arrest and False Imprisonment

Plaintiff’s claims for false arrest and
false rmprrsonment fail hecause defendants,
as prrvate rndrvr uas and entities, cannot be

, liah e or é)arntr 'S arrest b

r ae of Old. Brookville Bohoe 0 rcers
because the_officers had probable cause to
arrest plarntrff for pe p t larceny, and there Is
no allegation th defendan knowrnply
provideq false mforma tion to the police
concerning plaintiff’ s actions,

The Second Circuit has established that
[t]he existence of probable cause to arrest
constitutes justification and ‘is a complete
defense to” an action for false arrest™
We ant v. Qkst, 101 F.3d 845, 852 (2d Cir.

199%) %quotrng Bernard v Unrted States, 25
F.3d°98, 102°(2d Cir. 1994)). “In general
probable cause fo arrest exists when the
officers have, knowledge or reasonably
trustworthy information of facts and
circumstances that are sufficient to warrant a
person of reasonable caution in the belief
hat the person to be arrested has committed
or Is committing a crime.” Id. Furthermore
“[t]he vaIrdrtY of an arrest does no de end

upon an urmate frndrn urI

| nocence eterson v o assau
995 F. S 19982
itin Prerson v Ra 38 55
1967%) “Rather, the oour Iooks onI t the

information the arresting officer had at the
time of the arrest.” 1d. icrtrng ndersonv
Creighton, 483 U.S, 635 641 (1987)).
Moréover, the “question of whether or not
probable cause existed may be determrnable
as a matter of law if there is no dispute as to



Case 2:10-cv-03509-JFB-ARL Document 40 Filed 09/20/12 Page 15 of 18 PagelD #:
<pagelD>

the pertinent events and the knowledge of
the officers.” Weyant, 101 F.3d at 852.

The arresting officer, Sergeant Eqan
“thought we had enough for an arrest at that
time.” (Egan Dep. 46:8-9.) He vieweg
surveillance pictures  showin %Ialntlff
taking the hand sanitizer, (ld. 24:23-25.8)
When Egan asked plaintiff what happened
E|alntlff really didn’t reply.” (Id, 25:14-15 ]
gan also spoke to Virasavumi, who said that
the R|alntlf did not have permission to take
the nand sanitizer. (Id. 28:17-24, 45:19-21).
There is no allegation that Virasawmi knew
or believed that plaintiff had permission to
take the sanitizer, thus plaintiff does. not
allege that Virasawmi knowingly provided
false information to the. police.. ~ Instead,
plaintiff suggests that Virasawmi failed to
conduct a thoroygh mvest\llgatlon bg among
other things, . chiecking with Kethane t
verify the plaintiff’s vérsion of events. (See
PI.’s"Opp. at 7 (“[N]either the police nor
Defendants Virasawmi or Haffner sought
Dr. Keohane or any students who had béen
In the. class room on July 30, 2009, to verify
Plaintiff’s version of gvents.”).) However
the mere failure to investigate does not
Pr_owde a hasis for false arrest, whether the
ailure to investigate is on the part of the
police or, as In this case, on a private
Individual allegedly acting In copcert with
the_police by providing information to the
olice. See Ricciuti V. N, Cl(t:y Transit
uth, 124 F3d 123 128 (2d Cir. 1997)
g‘o,nce a police officer has a reasonable
asis for belle\zlng there is probable. cause,
he is not required to explore or eliminate
every — theorefically I
innacence before, makmg an, arrest.”); see
also_Curley v, Village of Suffern, 268 F.3d
65, 70 (20 Cir. 2001) (“Although a better
procedure may: have been for the” officers to
mvestl(%ate plaintiff’s version of events more
completely, the arresting officer does not

plausible claim of

have to grove plaintiff’s version _Wrong
before arrésting him.”): comEare Weintrau
v, Bd. of Equc. of N.Y., 423 F. Supp. 2d 33,
55-56 (E.D.N.Y. 2006). (denying summar
udfqment where “[plaintiff]” complain[e
hat'the defendants msﬂgate the arrest, an
did so based on facts that they knew were
false.”). In short, given that”there is no
allegation or evidence that any of the named
deféndants knew that the information being
Prowded to the police was false, and given
hat the evidence supplied to the police
(including the surveillance photographs) was
sufficient’to establish probable. cause for the
theft, the false arrest and false imprisonment
claims fail as a matter of law. _Accordlngli/,
the Court grants_summary judgment” to
defendants on plaintiff's false drrest and
false imprisonment claims.1

2. Breach of Contract

Plaintiff alleges that defendants breached
a contract with plaintiff by depriving him of
an oppor,tunlt?]/_ 0 address the circumstances
surrounding his theft befare the Student-
Faculty Committee and by failing to provide
him with a hearing beforé the COmmittee on
Academic Policy. This claim must fail.

16 Plaintiff additionally alleges negligence against
defendants Pamintuan, Virasawmi, and Haffner for
“carelessly and recklessly” grocunlngi laintiff’s
arrest, seizure, and detention. (Complaint If 106, July
30, 2010, ECF No. 1) Thus, Plalntlff seeks damages
for |n{ury res.ultln? from his allegedly false arrest and
detention. It is well-settled under New York law that,
where a plaintiff seeks damages for “injury resulting
from false arrest and detention,” he “canriot recover
under broad general éarlnmples of negligence but
instead, must ?rocee by ‘way of the traditional
remedy of false arrest” Santoro V. Town of
Smithtown, 40 A.D.3d 736, 738 (N.Y. App. Div.
2007). Accordingly, the Court. %rants summary
jl,lldgment to deferidants on plaintiff’s negligence
claim.
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“The eIements of a breach of contract
claim in New York are (1)t he exrstence of
a con tract, (2 er ormance yte art
seeking recovér Znon per ormanceb
the other garty and 2 damages attributable
to the breach.” Kramer v. New York City B,
of Educ, 715 F. Supp. 2d 335, " 356
gEDNY 2010& (uotrng RCN ' Telecom
ervs,, Inc. v. 202 Centre™Yt, Realty LLC,
156 F. App’x 349, 350-51 (2d Cir, 2005%}
The defendants handbook did not provide

any “Tight” to a hearing before the tudent-
Faculty” Committee. (Defs,” Ex. X, New
York College of Health Professions, Student
Handbook, “Spring 2009.) The handbook is
silent on that issue. In any event, it is
uncontroverted that defendans did, in fact
provide plainti ff with. an_opportunity _to
contest the charﬂes against him b aIIowrng
him to request that the CoIIerTres ommitte
on Academic Policy review the decision of
the Student-Faculty Committee, but plaintiff
drd not_avail himself of this opportunity.

s Ex. Y, Letter from Krasze ski to PI.,
ug 6, 2009) Thus, given the
uncontroverted  evidence, no rational jur
could conclude (1) that there was a contrac

or (2) that there was non- performance y
de endants under any alleged confract,
Accor Ing y Court grants summary
dmen 0 defendants on the breach of
contract claim.I/

17 Additionally, plaintiff ardues that defendants have
breached a contract with plaintiff by vroIatrng anti-
discrimination provisions in the Student Handbook.
(P1.’s Opp. at 22.) This claim fails because “it is well-
established that an employer’s anti-discrimination
Bohcres and manuals canno serve as the basis for a
reach of contract claim.” Price v._ Cushman &
Wakefield, Inc., 808 F. Supp. 2d 670, 700 SDNY
2011) ( quotatrons omitted) {c)ollectrng cases

3. Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress

A claim of negligent infliction of
emotjonal distress “may only proceed where
the allegations of condct afe “so extreme n
degree and outracfeous in character as to go
beyond all possiple bounds of decency, soas
to” be regarded as. afrocious an utterly
Intolerable |n a crvrIrzed communrDy
Wilson_v. City of New York
290, 295, 743'N.Y.S.2d 30, 34 (N
DIv. 2002) (quoting, _ Wol stern
Morgenstern, 275 A.D.2d 635, 636-37 713
N.Y:S.20 171, 172 (N.Y, App. Div. 2000)
(internal_ quotafions omrtted) Moreover,

‘li]n the absence of contemporaneous or
consequential Physrcal |nJury, courts have
been ‘reluctant to permit recovery for
ne ligently . caused psychologrcal trauma,

ensurn% emotrona arm anne
rms rong v. Brookaale Univ, osg
Ctr, 425 F3d 126, 137 §2d I, 2008)
%uo mg ohnsonv State
4 N.E.2d 590, 592 372NY82d
638, 641 (1975)).

Although] physical injury is no
onger & necessary component of a
cause of action to recover damages
for the negligent Infliction "of
emotional  distiess . . . [t]he
circumstances under which recovery
may be had for purely emotiondl
harm are extremely limited and, thus,
a cause of action seeking such
[ecovery must %enerally be premised
upon & breach of & duty owed
directly to he pIarn |ff Whrch eit her
endangere Ratn f|oysrca
safety or caused the plaintiff fear for
his or her own physical safety.

Lancellotti v. Howard, 155 A.D.2d 588, 547
N.YS2d 654, 655 (NY. App. Div
1989) (internal - citations omrtted)D he
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instant case, Plarntn‘f has not Rornted 0 any
evidence in the record, nor has the Couft
found any evidence from which plaintiff
could establish that he suffered an emotional
|njun( as a result of a breach of duty owed
directly to him that endangered his physical
safety. Accordrngly the  Court Qrants
sumy | judgment to  defendants on
plaintiff’s cIarm of negligent infliction of
emotional distress.

4. Intentional Infliction of Emotional
DistressB

. In_order to assert a valid claim for
intentional ranrctron of emotional distress
(“lIED™) under New York law, a plaintiff
must demonstrate 51) extreme  and
outrageous condlct, intent to cause
severe emotional distréss, (3) a causal
connection befween the conduct and the
injury, and (4) severe emotional distress,”
Bender v, CrtY ofN.Y, 78F3d 187,790 (2d
Cir. 1996) (citing Howell v. N. Y. Post Co.
81 N.Y.20 115 121 617 NE2d 699, 702,
506 N.Y S.2d 350, 353 ?1993)) “New York
sets a high t threshold for conduct that s
‘extreme ", and . oufrageous’ enough tQ
constitute intentional intliction of emotional
distress.” Id. (citation omitted). The conduct
aIIe'ged must be “‘so outrageous in
character, and so extreme in degre€, as to go
beyond all possible bounds of decency, and
to”be regarded as. atrocious, and Utterly
|ntoIerabIe |n a crvrIrzed socrety Martin V.
Cit |bank 162 F.2d 212,°220 (2d Crr
1985% g ug_)% Fischer v, Maloney. 43

7 3713 NE2d 1215, °1217

B In his opposition papers, plaintiff does not
specifically address defendants’ arguments regarding
the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim
and, thus, it could be deemed abandoned. However
in an abundance of caution, the Court has analy 76d
the merits of the claim and, in any event, concIudes
that it cannot survive summary judgment.

17

402 N.Y.S.2d 991, 993 (1978)). “New York
courts do not allow IIED claims where ‘the
conduct comﬁlarned of falls weII within the
ambit of other traditional to Irabrlrg’”
McGrath v. Nassau Health C are orp
Supp 2d 319, 3% Zoozg
'gquo g Lian v, Sedgwrck James Inc 99
644, 651 Y. 1998)). As
result, “IIED claims that are dupIrcatrve of
other. tort claims should therefore be
dismissed.” Id. (citing Lian, 992 F. Supﬁ
651). Moreover, “New York courts ave
been very strict _In 4 pyrn% these
prrnc Igles Martin, 762 F.2d at 220: see
also Elmowitz v. Executive Towers at Lido,
LLC, 5/1 F. Supp. 2d 370, 378 (ED.N.Y.
20083 {“Very few claims satisfy the extreme
utrageous requirement of a [IED claim.
In fact, none of the [IED claims considered
the New York Court of Appeals have
sliryived because the conduct’ was not
sufficiently outrageous.” (citation omitted)).

Even assumrn% that all of plaintiff’s
evidence is true, the alleged conduct is not
50 outrageous in character and S0, extreme in
de ree 4 0 go b|e\xond all gossrbe bounds
decency. artin, 220
(even If pIarntrff had established tha she
Was I){graphed by her employer as a result
ofrcra drscrrmrna tion, such” acts “would
orovrde E%all adeﬂuate vqrounds for a
ver ct of Z u ng Home
Products Coréa 0 N.Y.2d 293, 303, 443
N.E 161 N.Y.S.2d' 232, 236
(1983) affrrmrng dismissal of a claim as
fallling] far Short of [IIED’S| strict
standard” that alleged that' plaintiff was
ransferred and demoted for reporting fraud
hrs compan% then drschare in a
humr latin anner) Iero
Contem j)ora s [nc 160 .D.20 986
087 554 N ¥ 708 708 (N.Y. App Div.
1990) Ersmrssrng claim’ where” the
defendant allegedly™harassed and ultimately
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discharged the plaintiff dug to her IV. Conclusion
pregnancY”). Accordingly, the Court grants .

defendants” motign. for summar r[ud_ ment For the fore?qlng reasons, the Court
on the claim of intentional Infliction of ~ denies defendants’. motion for -summary

emotional distress.9 udgment on the claim under Title [11 of the
JADgA, 42 US.C. §12182: the claim under
the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. §794; and
the claim under N.Y. Exec. Law §2%
mcIudmg the “damages issue, The Court
grants defendants’ motion for summary
Juldgment on plaintiff’s other state law

claims.

SO ORDERED.

JOSEPH F. BIANGO
United States District Judge

Dated: September 20, 2012
Central Tslip, N

* % *

19 Plaintiff's claim of respondeat superior liabilit epp - :
against the College for ke tortols acts of it)s/ Plaintiff is represented by Frederick K.

emplok{ees Pamintuan, Virasawmi, and Haffner is Brewington, Law Offices of Frederick K.
derivative of pIalntlff’s state law claims for false Brewington, 556 Peninsula  Boulevard,

arrest, false imprisonment, and intentional and
negli entinflictio% of emotional distress. Because the Hempstead NY. 11550 Defendants are

Cotrt grans summary judgment on sxch of e represented by Steven G. Storch, Kathleen
underl;ging tor claims %gainst the  individual Elizaheth Mlght, and. Thomas McKee
defendants, the Court also grants summary judgment Monahan, Storth, Amini & Munves, P.C.

to defendants on the respondeat superior Claim. ’
Additionally, the Court grar?ts summar pju,dgment to l%l@ E&%&%Sth Street, 25th Floor, New York,
defendants on plaintiff’s claims under Sections 6, 11, '

and 12 of Article | of the New York State

Constitution. Sections 6 and 12 concern the right to

be free from certain actions by New York State, not

from private parties like the” defendants. See N.Y.

Const. Art. I, 88 6, 12. Additionally, aIthouglh Section

11 has been held to apPIy to private, as well as state

discrimination, it is not an independent source for a

cause of action of discrimination under New York

law. See Tarshis v. Riese Org. 195 F, Sugg. 2d 518,

g%ggSS.D.N.Y. 2002), afft 66 F. App’ 238 (2d Cir.

18



